#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MARK TWILEGAR, :

Appellant, :

vs. : Case No. SC07-1622

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Appellee. :

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
IN AND FOR LEE COUNTY
STATE OF FLORIDA

### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CYNTHIA J. DODGE Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0345172

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

## ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

# TOPICAL

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On April 3, 2003, the Grand Jury for the Twentieth Judicial Circuit for Lee County, Florida, filed an indictment charging Appellant, MARK A. TWILEGAR, with the first-degree murder of David H. Thomas by use of a firearm, either by premeditated design or in the course of a robbery. [1:R12-13] He was not charged with robbery. On September 25, 2006, the court conducted a colloquy and found Appellant was competent to make a knowing and intelligent waiver of the right to present evidence in mitigation, [R8:375-392] and the court also accepted Appellant's waiver of all penalty phase investigation. Id. Appellant filed a motion to waive penalty phase jury on January 11, 2007, [R11:757] and before jury selection, the court accepted the waiver. [1:T30-43] Appellant was tried by a jury before the Honorable James R. Thompson on January 16-19 and 23-26, 2007. The facts are as follows:

David Thomas (the victim) owned rental properties in Fort
Myers and the Appellant's niece, Jennifer Morrison, and her
boyfriend, David Twomey, rented a residence from Thomas. [4:T583;
7:T1339] Twomey was Thomas' property manager, and Morrison
collected rents for the two-year period before Thomas' death.
[7:T1350-51]

Mark Twilegar (Appellant) came to Florida from Missouri in February or March of 2002, and he lived with Morrison and Twomey for a couple of weeks before he moved to a campground. [7:T1335, 1339] A couple of weeks after the Appellant arrived, his mother, Hazel Twilegar, arrived at Morrison's apartment with a car and

two dogs. [7:T1337-38] Morrison had always known Appellant by the name Vinnie. [5:T966] Mrs. Twilegar stayed with Morrison after the Appellant left. [7:T1338-39]

Twomey introduced Appellant to Shane McArthur, [5:T935; 6:T996] and McArthur got permission from his in-laws, Sandra and William Hartman, for Appellant to live in a tent in a field next to the backyard of the house (412 Miramar) in which he lived with the Hartmans' daughter. [7:T1337] The Hartmans also knew the Appellant as Vinnie. In lieu of rent, Appellant did work on the house, including restoring a burned bedroom, and mowing the lawn. [5:T936, 940; 6:T979-80, 994, 995-96, 1052-53] The property bordered undeveloped land and could be accessed from the area behind it without using the road. [6:T983, 989] The property was also used as a racetrack for ATVs and motorcycles. [6:T989]

Appellant lived in a three-room collapsible tent with a zipper door. [5:T936, 941] There were no toilet facilities in the yard, and Appellant did not use the bathroom in the house. [6:T988, 1006-1007, 1055-56] He used the outside hose for water, and he used electricity from the house. [6:T1007, 1019] He did not have a car, but he had a couch, a television, a VCR, and some clothes. [5:T941, 945; 6:T1019-1020, 1022] Appellant also had a shotgun that hung in a net inside the tent. [5:T942] He had a pit bull dog that he would take with him. [6:T1000] Appellant's mother would visit him almost every day and bring him food and cigarettes. [5:T944] Dave Twomey would also come over and visit and see if Appellant needed anything. [5:T944] The McArthurs moved out of the house in June of 2002, but Appellant remained on

the property. [5:T939; 6T979] Spencer Hartman, the Hartmans' son (who was 26 at the time of trial), moved into the property in September of 2002. [6:T1017] Between the time the McArthurs left and Spencer Hartman moved in, Spencer would go to the property to work on it. [6:T985]

Mr. Thomas was married to Mary Ann Lehman, and the two of them still owned a house in a historic district in Montgomery, Alabama, where they lived before they were married in 1987.

[4:T580, 582] The house needed a roof and other renovations, and Thomas wanted to install a deck even though he would need a special permit. [4:T594] Thomas had closed his law practice in Florida, but he was making plans to resume his practice in Alabama. [4:T594]

Morrison and Twomey introduced Appellant to Thomas some time in the Spring of 2002, and Appellant began doing handiwork for him. [7:T1339] He installed a door for Thomas' wife and built a deck around his hot tub. [4:T591, 592] Thomas asked Appellant to go with him to Alabama to install the deck. [4:T594] He and Appellant left in Thomas' pickup truck on August 2, 2002, and they arrived in Montgomery the next day. [4:T593] Thomas told Lehmann he would be in Alabama for six to eight weeks. [4:T594]

At 10:13 on the morning of August 6, 2002, Thomas arrived at the Alliant Bank in Montgomery and withdrew \$25,000, insisting that he wanted the money in \$20 bills. [4:T677] The bank gave him the money in three separate bank bags, and Thomas told the teller he was going to an auction to buy a house. [4:T677] The teller called Thomas on his cell phone some time before 10:00 the next

morning (August 7, 2002) to obtain information, and Thomas was driving at the time of the call. [4:T681, 685]

At 10:30 on the same morning he withdrew the money, Thomas rented a red Dodge Neon from Thrifty Car Rental at the Montgomery Airport. [4:T721-722, 725, 728] The car was supposed to be returned in Montgomery on the morning of August 9, 2002, but it was never returned. [4:T724, 728] Bea Crawford, Thomas' next-door neighbor in Montgomery, saw Thomas and "Vinnie" after 3:00 on the afternoon of August 6, 2002. [4:T666] It takes from 10 to 14 hours to drive from Ft. Myers to Alabama. [4:T595]

Lehmann did not know that Thomas was having an affair with a woman named Valerie Bisnett Fabina (Fabina) who worked at a Dollar Store and lived in Cape Coral. [4:T738, 739] Fabina was separated from her husband, and she had three children. In the summer of 2002, she was living with friends because she had financial problems, and her children were living with her husband. [5:T813] Thomas told Fabina that he lived in Alabama, and that he came to Ft. Myers to oversee his rental properties. [5:T791] Fabina did not suspect that Thomas was married because he did not seem to hide his activities. [5:T791] She saw Lehmann's name on some checks and Thomas told her Lehmann was only a business partner. [4:T772-773] Thomas stayed at a Motel 6 when he came into town, and Fabina stayed with him approximately 10 times between May and August. [4:T742] Thomas took Fabina to his residence in Alabama for a weekend in June and once in July. [4:T742, 748] Fabina had also gone to Thomas' rental properties with him, and on one occasion, she was introduced to a man named

Vinnie to whom Thomas was talking about a roofing job. [4:T744-745]

Thomas called Fabina on the morning of August 6, 2002, and told her he would be arriving later that evening. [4:T748] She told him she would get him a room at the motel. [4:T748-49] She rented the room, and according to Fabina, Thomas came to her friends' house and picked up the key card from her around 11:00 p.m. [4:T749, 751] She waited in the house for Thomas with the front door open to the lanai. [5:T806, 812-13] When Thomas arrived, he was driving a small red rental car, and he parked at the end of the driveway behind a very large pickup truck. [4:T751] Although Fabina had only seen Appellant one time, Fabina claimed she could see from 20 to 30 feet away that Vinnie was with him. [4:T751, 787]

The next day (August 7), Thomas came to see Fabina at the Dollar Tree a couple of times, and around 7:00 or 7:30 that evening when he gave her the motel key. [4:T753, 788, 790] When he opened his wallet, Fabina noticed he had more money than he usually carried. [4:T754] However, Fabina did not know how much was in his wallet, and she did not describe the denominations of the money. [4:T754] According to Fabina, Thomas said he and Vinnie were going to go look at a truck and that he would see her later at the motel. [4:T753-754] Fabina did not see Vinnie that day, nor did she see the rental car. [5:T789-91] Thomas said he rented the car to save mileage on his truck, and he said the money in his wallet was to buy a truck to take back to Alabama for Vinnie to use. [4:T779-80; 5:T798] He did not say anything about a property

auction. [5:T794]

When Fabina went to the motel, Thomas was not there so she waited and spent the night. [4:T755, 756] Fabina called Thomas' cell phone, but got no answer. [4:T756] She left a message that was not returned, and Thomas never arrived. [4:T756] The next morning, she took Thomas' bag, and left another message saying that she had his things. [4:T757-58] Since Thomas' behavior was not normal, Fabina assumed he was ending the relationship, but she was also concerned that something might have happened. [4:T758] On Saturday, August 10, 2002, she went to the Sheriff's Office and reported Thomas missing. [4:T759]

On August 15, 2002, Fabina rented a house and resumed living with her husband. [4:T770] At that time, she paid \$380 in rent for August and \$735 for a deposit. [4:T770] Fabina gave Thomas' bag to the Sheriff's Office on August 20, 2002. [4:T772] It contained toiletries, underwear and socks, two cell phones, and two or three checkbooks, some with Lehmann's name on them. [4:T772-773; 11:T1971] According to Fabina, the bag did not contain money. [4:T774]

Lehmann spoke to Thomas by phone a little after 9:00 p.m. on August 7, 2002. [4:T598] They argued during the call, and she was angry that he left her to oversee repairs for the rental property. [4:T600] They made arrangements to speak again the next morning, but Thomas did not call or answer his phone. [4:T599] Lehmann became concerned on Thursday and called her neighbors in Alabama, and she called the police on the weekend of August 10-11, 2002, and left a message. [4:T601, 634] She called the police on Monday,

and they told her Valerie Bisnett (Fabina) filed a report in Florida and that Bisnett was listed as Thomas' live-in girlfriend. [4:T602, 603]

Jennifer Morrison remembered that Appellant arrived at her house "some time more toward evening" on August 7, 2002. [7:T1341] They went to the 7-Eleven in North Ft. Myers and Appellant purchased cell phones around 12:39 in the morning. [7T:1342, 1348] They then went to Wal-Mart and went back to Morrison's house. Morrison had no idea what time she fell asleep, but when she woke up the next morning, Appellant, his mother and his mother's two dogs were gone. They did not tell Morrison they were leaving. [7:T1343]

Lehmann asked the bank to close Thomas' bank account in Montgomery on August 14, 2002, and discovered that Thomas had withdrawn \$25,000 in cash. [4:T607, 636, 638] The account had \$111,510.90 in it. [4:T632] On August 16, Lehmann found building materials at the house along with the pick-up truck. [4:T604, 605-606, 637] Some of the boards had already been cut for the deck supports. [4:T606] She changed the locks on the house. [4:T607]

Lehmann stated that Thomas did not make any money from the cars he collected. [4:T630] In February of 2002, Thomas deposited over \$86,000; however, Lehmann did not know where the money came from. [4:T630-31] She was not aware that he deposited \$26,000 in January, and she did not know that he transferred \$20,000 by wire that same month. [4:T631] She knew he deposited \$100,000 in May because he wanted to buy an apartment complex in Alabama, but he did not purchase it. [4:T632] Thomas had a life insurance policy

worth \$100,000 and she had a trust fund with \$400,000 to \$600,000 in it that would have gone to Thomas if anything had happened to her. [4:T633] When Thomas died, they jointly owned 13 properties. [4:T633] She sold 11 of the properties. They were not rentable because they were in disrepair, and they had substantial liens. [4:T633, 641] The properties were not making much money. [4:T644]

According to Fabina, Lehmann came to the Dollar Tree looking for the duffel bag, and she was not happy that Fabina gave it to the Sheriff. [4:T775-76] Lehmann asked her if she looked in it, and Fabina thought Lehmann really wanted something in the bag. [4:T776] According to Fabina, Lehmann was aware that Thomas had other girlfriends. [4:T777]

On August 13, 2002, the police discovered Thomas' rental car in a remote area of Lehigh Acres. [5:T861, 863, 873] It had been totally burned, and the Fire Marshall opined that the fire was set intentionally by use of a "wick" or trail of accelerant, and the car had burned itself out. [5:T882, 893, 895] The embers were cold, indicating that it was burned more than 24 hours before it was found. [5:T884] The debris was still in powder form and not packed down as it would have if it had rained or if it had been extinguished. [5:T882, 909-910] The driver's seat was partially folded backward to give a taller person more room to drive. [5:T877] Later, bullet casings from a handgun were also recovered from the car. [5:T896, 915] There was a handgun under the passenger seat that was burned beyond recognition and could not be traced. [5:T896-897, 899] A ring and a key ring with nine keys on it also found in the car. [5:T914, 915] One bullet casing and a

cigarette butt were found nearby. [5:T920-21]

Spencer Hartman did not recall the last time he saw Appellant; however, he did remember that sometime after his sister and her husband moved out, but before he moved in, he saw Appellant in the back yard around 4:00 in the afternoon. [6:T1023-24] It was raining, and there were no vehicles there. [6:T1024, 1025] Spencer saw Appellant standing behind his tent and he heard the sound of a shovel breaking the earth. [6:T1025] Spencer stood there for only a few seconds, and he did not say anything to Appellant. [6:T1028-29] He did not see Appellant digging -- he just saw body movements that led him to assume he was digging. [6:1055] The tent took up almost all of the clearing in the brush, and the place where Appellant was standing was the only place not occupied by the tent. [6:T1055]

A few minutes later, Appellant walked to the front of the house and they spoke for a few minutes in the carport. [6:T1030] Appellant said that he had a guy coming to deliver a couple of pounds of "weed" and the man would not stop if someone was there. [6:T1031] He told Spencer that if he left, he would leave him an ounce of weed or \$100. [6:T1031] Spencer told Appellant he would rather have the ounce of weed, and he left and went down the street to his mother's house. [6:T1031, 1037] He did not see anyone else on the property, and did not hear any gunshots that night. [6:T1060] The next morning when Spencer returned, he discovered Appellant's tent smoldering in the barbeque. [6:T1032] There was a can of lantern kerosene sitting on the back of the dog pen, and there was a hundred dollar bill on the shed where

Appellant said he would leave it. [6:T1033, 1037, 1042]

A few days or a week later, Dave Twomey came by and said Appellant had some of his stuff and he wanted to see if he left it. [6:T1061] Spencer left, so he did not know how long Twomey stayed, or what he did there, or whether he found anything. [6:T1061-62] Five or six weeks later, Spencer was moving some furniture into the house with T.J. Vaughn. [6:T1034, 1088-1091] They started talking about Appellant because they heard Appellant and another man were missing. [6:T1034-35] Spencer took Vaughn back to the area where Appellant was digging, and they found the couch from the tent on top of plywood covered with palm fronds. [6:T1035] Underneath were a couple of cinder blocks and a car ramp. [6:T1035] Vaughn left and Spencer got a shovel and dug. [6:T1037, 1091] There was a strong smell, like a dead animal, so he told his mother to call the police. [6:T1037]

Although Spencer went to the property every day after work, he had not seen Appellant for a few weeks or a few months prior to that day. [6:T1063-64] He admitted he smoked marijuana, and that he lied to the police by omitting the fact that he asked Appellant to leave marijuana. [6:T1058] Vaughn admitted he smoked marijuana with Appellant a few times, and for that reason, he thought there might have been marijuana buried there. [6:T1097]

On September 26-27, 2002, Thomas' body was discovered about three feet down. [6:T1116-1117, 1119, 1156] Technicians excavated the area around the body and found it permeated with palmetto and tree roots that were difficult to cut through. [6:T1134, 1140]

They had to chop through them with a saw or trimmer and hedge clippers. [6:T1134; 7:T1233] Whoever dug the hole cleared the roots in order to bury Thomas. [6:T1134, 1140] The body was lying on its left side. [6:T1141] There was a cell phone on the belt and a ring on the finger. [6:T1173]

A search of the property revealed a shotgun recoil pad and a key chain from Thrift Car Rental in the wooded area northwest of the excavation site. [6:T1120-1121] There was no blood evidence. [6:T1130; 7:T1229-30] There was a lot of trash including tent material and poles in the barbeque. [7:T1190] There was a charred pair of scissors, a light bulb that had not been burned, charred metal-framed eyeglasses, and a D-shaped handle from a garden tool in the barbecue, along with a spent 12-gauge shotgun shell. [7:T1196-1198, 1209, 1262] A pager was found on the shed shelter along with a burned marijuana cigarette; however, the cigarette was not tested for DNA. [7:T1219, 1222, 1226, 1227]

Dr. Rebecca Hamilton performed an autopsy on the severely decomposed body of David Thomas on September 27, 2002. Thomas had been shot only once in the upper back with 7 ½ birdshot from a shotgun. [3:T456, 460, 484; 7:T3189] Hamilton opined that the shotgun was between one and four feet away when it was fired. The pellets traveled in a downward direction. [3:T480] Thomas was wearing a plaid shirt identified by Fabina as the shirt he was wearing on August 7, 2002. [4:T771]

Because the medical examiner found wet sand in Thomas' larynx and trachea, she opined that Thomas breathed in the sand when he was still alive. [3:T489, 490-91] However, Hamilton could not tell

if Thomas was conscious at the time, and Hamilton concluded Thomas would have died within minutes of being shot because the pellets pierced Thomas' aorta and lung. [3:T480, 491, 500] Hamilton did not take a sample of the sand for comparison, and for that reason, there was no way to tell if the sand was from the site where the body was found. [3:T496] Hamilton agreed that Thomas could have inhaled the sand if he had been face down on any uneven sandy surface, and that the inhalation of sand did not necessarily come from being buried. [3:T497-98, 501] Hamilton refused to give an opinion as to how long the body had been buried. [3:T491, 495]

According to the camp hosts, Mr. and Mrs. Reeves, on August 21 or 22, 2002, the Appellant arrived at the Horse Creek Campground in the Cherokee National Forest in Greeneville, Tennessee, in a maroon Buick with his mother and two dogs.

[8:T1376, 1400] Appellant paid for the use of a primitive campsite for two weeks. [8:T1373, 1403] Appellant had a large tent and a cover over the picnic table, and he kept the door closed at all times. [8:T1380] The maroon car would come and go. [8:T1380]

On August 25, 2002, someone complained to Mrs. Reeves about Appellant's pit bull dog. [8:T1381] She asked Deputy Sheriff Wesley Holt of the Greene County, Tennessee, Sheriff's Office to speak to Appellant. [8:T1382, 1412] Holt told Appellant to keep the dog on a leash. [8:T1414] He also asked Appellant for a name and date of birth, and the information checked out when he ran it through NCIC. [8:T1414] Holt asked for photo identification in case the dog got loose. [8:T1415] Appellant made a phone call and asked the person he called to bring his identification, and then

told Holt he would have it in 30 minutes. [8:T1415] Holt left and returned about 30 minutes later, but the man was gone. [8:T1417] Holt walked around to the other side of the tent and saw two or three police scanners, a generator, a refrigerator and some portable power units, but the dog was gone. [7:1417-18]

According to Reeves, the lady with the maroon car came 30 minutes after Holt left, and Reeves thought the lady had one dog when she came in and that she left with two dogs. [8:T1383-84] Later that evening, a small car with a Tennessee tag came in and went to Appellant's campsite. [8:T1385, 1400] When Mr. and Mrs. Reeves arrived to investigate, the car sped off quickly and drove into a ditch. [8:T1387, 1406-07] The car was full of items. [8:T1388, 1406] A young skinny man jumped out of the car and met them in the road. [8:T1388-89] They offered to call for help, but the car left. [8:T1389]

Holt arrived at 10:14. [8:T1419] He found that the refrigerator and generator were gone. [8:T1390] A scanner had been dropped on the steps. Everything was strewn about and the tent was open. [8:T1390, 1408] It began to rain heavily. Mrs. Reeves gathered Appellant's things and Holt took them to the Sheriff's Office. [8:T1391] No one ever contacted him about the items. [7:T1420] The car leaving the campsite was registered to Nicole Miller in Telford, Tennessee. [8:T1514]

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