IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MARK A. TWILEGAR,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC07-1622 L.T. No. 03-CF-002151 DEATH PENALTY CASE

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LEE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

CANDANCE M.SABELLA Chief Assistant Attorney General Capital Appeals Bureau Chief

KATHERINE MARIA DIAMANDIS
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 69116
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

- 2. The park was attended, in season, by a husband and wife living in a camper at the park entrance. They served as campsite host and watched to see that people pay on the honor system, that the rules were followed, that the camp was generally maintained in a clean condition and generally checked on things. Their duties also included keeping track of the license tag numbers of the campers.
- 3. The camp hosts received a complaint from a lady at the campsite adjacent to defendant's that the defendant's dog had come at her as if to attack and that it had frightened her. The lady camp host said the dog was a large white dog like a Bull Dog and that she was also afraid of the dog.
- 4. She reported the complaint to a deputy sheriff with the Sheriff's office of Green County Tennessee, Deputy Holt, whose duties included patrolling of the Cherokee National Forest including the Horse Creek Campground and who had come by the campground in the usual course of those duties.
- The deputy indicated he would talk to the defendant about the incident. Не went to the defendant's campsite and spoke with him. In the process he observed the site to have a tent around a picnic table with camouflage netting over it, a second tent and, out of the ordinary, two beware of dog signs. He asked for identification because as testified if the dogs bit someone they would need to know the owner. The defendant had no identification but indicated he could get some and made a call. The deputy was dispatched elsewhere before seeing any identification. He later returned to the site but no

one was present and the dogs were gone. He did not enter the tents but did observe the campsite and some of the equipment.

- 6. On August 25, 2002 the camp host observed a strange vehicle enter the campground. They, went to see where it had gone and observed it at the lot 8 site. The vehicle took off suddenly when approached and now appeared to be packed with stuff. The vehicle traveled at a speed and in a manner attempting to indicating it was avoid them. ultimately ran off the road and the camp host spoke to the driver and offered to call someone to pull the vehicle out; however, before a call was made the driver got the vehicle out and left.
- The Camp Host called the Sheriff's Office about 9:45 pm and Deputy Holt arrived about 10:14 pm. He and the camp host went to defendant's campsite, Lot 8. The campsite was in disarray and appeared to have been burglarized or vandalized. It had been raining and at this time the rain was heavy. They could not locate the defendant. The deputy suggested they should take the tent down and the rest of the stuff and hold it for the defendant. The camp site host had no place at the camp ground to store the property and it was taken by the deputy to be stored for safe keeping with the deputy advising the camp site host that defendant came back to tell him where his property one came back to ask was. No about the items. [incorrectly numbered in original]
- 7. The defendant testified he had not abandoned the site that he customarily left the site to go by foot to a second campsite he had in another camping area in the Cherokee National Forest but outside of the Horse Creek Campground. He further testified that when he returned by foot that evening it was raining heavily, he saw the camp host vehicle driving away and assumed he was making the normal rounds, his stuff was gone and he believed he had been robbed. He did not contact the camp host or law enforcement because he was on the run and avoiding law enforcement.

(R. 10/632-33)

After making the foregoing factual findings, the lower

court denied the motion, concluding, in part:

The seizure (the court is not certain the word search correctly applies in these circumstances) of the defendant's property will be sustained both on the State's contention that the property was abandoned and also on the State's contention that the property was taken based on exigent circumstances requiring its protection

(R. 10/633)

Now on appeal, Defendant contends that these findings were erroneous. He argues that the State failed to carry its burden of showing that Defendant had abandoned the property and that the seizure cannot be upheld under an "exigent circumstances" exception to the warrant requirement because circumstances cannot justify seizing items that are contraband or that are not obviously incriminating. Finally, he disputes the deputy's claim that he removed the items from the campsite to protect them when he could have simply placed the items back into the tent or covered them with a tarp.

A trial judge's ruling on a motion to suppress is clothed with a presumption of correctness, with regard to determinations of historical fact. However, appellate courts must independently review mixed questions of law and fact. See Connor v. State, 803 So. 2d 598, 608 (Fla. 2001)(A determination of whether the application of the law to the historical facts establishes an adequate basis for the trial court's ruling is subject to de novo review.) See also Blake v. State, 972 So. 2d

839, 842-843 (Fla. 2007); Nelson v. State, 850 So. 2d 514, 521 (Fla. 2003). As the following will show, the trial court properly denied the motion to suppress and the denial should be affirmed by this Court.

The court below thoroughly addressed the law and the facts and explained:

Abandonment. At the time of the taking of defendant's property from lot 8 his rental period had been paid expired. The defendant had not reasonable expectation of privacy in the tents, see United States v. Gooch, 6 F.3d 673 (9th Cir. 1993), unless he had abandoned the site. It is clear he abandoned the site before the end of the period that had been paid for. He abandoned it either before the officer and the camp host took the property or shortly claims to have discovered thereafter when he missing and left without inquiring of the camp host or critical reclaiming the property. The factual determination is when the abandonment took place. Some of the things the court has considered are as follows:

The defendant had earlier come to the attention of law enforcement and he was a fugitive from Considering his circumstances it appears unlikely he would be staying to present his identification to law enforcement, as he believed he was expected to do. The most valuable items had been removed from the campsite either by theft or by his arrangement. The idea of a theft as he had testified is a little too convenient. Why would a thief appear at a time when a camper would be expected to be in residence, pick just this site in the dark and conveniently take the property just when the defendant needed to leave the site because he had come to the attention of law enforcement? Also the manner of the removal appears to have been the only practical way he could recover his property without risking again coming to attention of law enforcement. His testimony that he returned to the campsite at night by foot through the woods in a heavy rain is also questionable. Having considered the matter, the court is of the opinion that the most creditable

evidence supports a finding that he abandoned the site with the removal of the bulk of his property by an associate acting at his direction and therefore, at the time the deputy and camp host took the remaining property for safe keeping he had abandoned the site and the remaining property.

The test for abandonment in search and seizure law is whether a defendant voluntarily relinquished his interest in the property in question so that he could no longer retain a reasonable expectation of privacy with regard to it at the time of the search, State v. Lampley 817 So.2d 989 Fla.App.4 Dist., 2002. The court finds the state has meet its burden of proving such an abandonment and that such abandonment occurred before the deputy and the camp host secured the remaining property.

Exigent Circumstances: Police may enter defendant's if property without a warrant an objectively reasonable basis exists for the officer to believe that there is an immediate need for police assistance for the protection of life or substantial property interests." Seibert v. State, 923 So.2d (Fla.2006). In the instant circumstances the officer accompanied by the park host had an objectively reasonable basis to believe the defendant's property was endangered and in the heavy rain acted reasonably to protect and preserve the remaining property from the elements and possible theft.

ORDERED AND ADJUDGED as follows:

1. The defendant's Motion To Suppress Unlawful Search is denied.

(T. 10/633-34)(emphasis added)

Curiously, Defendant contends that because the State did not present any direct evidence Defendant, or someone acting on his behalf, took the property or that Defendant intended to leave and not return, there was no evidence of abandonment and

the officer had no reason to take the property. Defendant's argument misses the point. The officer testified that he only removed the items in order to secure them for the Defendant. The officer was not conducting a search but rather was fulfilling his function as a community caretaker. As this Court explained in Seibert:

A warrantless search of a home is per se unreasonable and thus unconstitutional under the Fourth Amendment. Coolidge v. New Hampshire, 403 U.S. 443, 454-55, 91 S. Ct. 2022, 29 L. Ed. 2d 564 (1971). However, several exceptions to this rule have developed. One exception is the presence of an emergency situation which requires the police to assist or render aid. Mincey v. Arizona, 437 U.S. 385, 392, 98 S. Ct. 2408, 57 L. Ed. 2d 290 (1978) ("[T]he Fourth Amendment does police officers from making entries and searches when they reasonably believe that a person within is in need of immediate aid."). Under this exception, police may enter a residence without a warrant if an objectively reasonable basis exists for the officer to believe that there is an immediate need for police assistance for the protection of life or substantial property interests. Rolling v. State, 695 2d 278, 293-94 (Fla. 1997). It is immaterial whether an actual emergency existed in the residence; only the reasonableness of the officer's belief at the time of entry is considered on review. State v. Boyd, 615 So. 2d 786, 789 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993). However, this search must be "strictly circumscribed by the exigencies which justify its initiation." Mincey, 437 U.S. at 393 (quoting Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 26, 88 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968)). Thus, officer must cease a search once it is determined that no emergency exists. Rolling, 695 So. 2d at 293.

Seibert v. State, 923 So. 2d 460, 468 (Fla. 2006)(emphasis

 $^{^{14}}$ Notably, the car that removed Defendant's possessions was registered to Nicole Miller, 20860 State Route 34, in Telford, Tennessee. (T. $8/1514)\,$

added).

Deputy Holt testified that when he saw that the campsite had been vandalized or burglarized "or something," he determined that the best thing to do was take the property into custody for "safekeeping" to preclude someone from coming back and taking the rest of the stuff in case it was a burglary. He told Mr. and Mrs. Reaves that if the owner came back to get it, he was more than welcome to come to the sheriff's department and get it. (T. 10/514, 524-25) A couple of days later, when no one showed up to get the property, they tried to figure out what was going on. He did an inventory which was two pages long, he looked through the briefcase for identification to return the property to the owner but could not find any, so he spoke with forest service law enforcement and they said to hold onto it for a while to see if anybody claimed it. He also totaled up receipts in an effort to figure out what had happened. (T. 10/515, 524-26) Defendant's own testimony established that by the time Deputy Holt inventoried the items, Defendant abandoned the property. Defendant testified that when he came back and saw that his items were gone, he did not contact the camp hosts or the police to recover his property, even though he said he saw Mr. Reaves making his nightly rounds of the area when he returned. Defendant testified that he did not contact them because he was a wanted fugitive and "on the run."

10/543-44) Thus, there is no question, that at the very least he abandoned it when he returned even if the court believed his contention that he had no reason to leave because he had identification in the name of Brian Wagner so there was no reason for the officer to suspect him. (Initial Brief of Appellant at p. 65)¹⁵ Thus, contrary to Defendant's attempt to circumvent evidence that he abandoned the property by arguing that the police and the camp hosts should have left the property where it was after discovering that it had been ransacked and, therefore, it would have been there for him to recover when he returned, the officer's efforts to secure the property are consistent with his responsibilities to protect Defendant's property interest until it became evident that he had abandoned same. Rolling v. State, 695 So. 2d 278, 293-94 (Fla. 1997).

Defendant's suggestion that the trial court cannot make a finding that the evidence was abandoned unless there is direct evidence of intent, is without basis. Clearly, the trial court can rely upon circumstantial evidence in support of his ultimate legal conclusion. "It has long been established that circumstantial evidence is competent to establish the elements of a crime, including intent." State v. Castillo, 877 So. 2d

¹⁵ This argument defies logic. If he was not concerned about the officer being suspicious beforehand, then there would be no reason for the officer to suspect him after he had secured the items for him.

690, 693-694 (Fla. 2004), citing, Moorman v. State, 157 Fla. 267, 25 So. 2d 563, 564 (Fla. 1946)("It is too well settled to require citation of authorities that any material fact may be proved by circumstantial evidence, as well as by direct evidence."); and, State v. Waters, 436 So. 2d 66, 71 (Fla. 1983)("The element of intent, being a state of mind, often can only be proved by circumstantial evidence.") See also Webb v. Blancett, 473 So. 2d 1376, 1378 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985)(finding that evidence of parental abandonment can be established by circumstantial evidence.)

that Moreover, this Court has repeatedly held when reviewing a trial court's ruling on a motion to suppress, the appellate "court must interpret the evidence and reasonable inferences and deductions derived therefrom in a manner most favorable to sustaining the trial court's ruling." Schoenwetter v. State, 931 So. 2d 857, 866 (Fla. 2006), citing Rolling v. State, 695 So. 2d 278, 291 (Fla. 1997) and McNamara v. State, 357 So. 2d 410, 412 (Fla. 1978)). The trial court made "reasonable inferences and deductions" in reaching conclusion that Defendant had left the area to avoid further confrontation with law enforcement when he admitted that he did not attempt to retrieve the property because he was a fugitive and that the sudden removal of his most valuable property right after his encounter with the officer who said he would return to

examine his identification was just a "little too convenient."

This conclusion is supported by competent substantial evidence.

Further, the lower court applied the correct legal standard to the facts in reaching the conclusion that Defendant had abandoned the property. As the lower court recognized, the test for abandonment is "whether a defendant voluntarily discarded, left behind, or otherwise relinquished his interest in the property in question so that he could no longer retain a reasonable expectation of privacy with regard to it at the time of the search." State v. Lampley, 817 So. 2d 989, 991 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002)(quoting 14A Fla.Jur.2d Abandoned Property § (2001)). See also Branch v. State, 952 So. 2d 470 2006) (Denying claim of ineffective assistance of counsel where trial court found that the circumstances that existed at the time supported both the legality of the seizure and search of the vehicle and that defendant had abandoned the car.) Defendant wholly failed to avail himself of the opportunity to retrieve the property once he discovered it was missing the trial court properly found that he "relinquished his interest in the property in question so that he could no longer retain a reasonable expectation of privacy with regard to it at the time of the search." State v. Lampley, 817 So. 2d 989, 991 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002)

The motion to suppress was properly denied. Even if this

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